FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/20/2020 2:31 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 10/20/2020 2:15 PM

99131-6

Court of Appeals File No. 53450-9-II (Direct review denied under Supreme Court No. 95901-3)

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

Hired Hands LLC; Kenneth Smith,

Appellants/Plaintiffs

v.

Washington State Department of Labor and Industries

Respondent/Defendant

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JACKSON MILLIKAN WSBA No. 47786 2540 Kaiser Rd. NW Olympia, WA 98502 (360) 866-3556 Attorney for Appellants

1.	Identity of Petitioner
2.	Court of Appeals Decision1; Appx. C
3.	Issues Presented for Review
4.	Statement of the Case1-
5.	Arguments2-1
	a. RAP 13.4(b)(1) conflicts with a decision of the U.S. Supreme
	Court2-8
	b. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) significant questions of Constitutional law
	and substantial public importance9-10
6.	Conclusion10
	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
Co	ses
Ca	ses
Cit	izens United v. Federal Election Comm'n, 558 U.S. 310, 340 (2010)
Cru	uzan v. Director, Mo. Dept. of Health, 497 U.S. 261 (1990)
<u>Hi</u>	red Hands, LLC v. Washington State Dep't of Labor & Indus., No.
534	450-9-II, 2020 WL 5797899 (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 29, 2020)4, 5, 7, G
<u>IM</u>	<u>Db.com Inc. v. Becerra</u> , 962 F.3d 1111 (9th Cir. 2020)6,
Ma	<u>urbury v. Madison</u> , 5 U.S. 137 (1803)
<u>N.</u> Y	W. Enters. Inc. v. City of Houston, 352 F.3d 162 (5th Cir. 2003)
Na	t'l Inst. of Family & Life Advocates v. Becerra
	<u>FLA</u> .
	<u>ke, Inc. v. Kasky</u> , 539 U.S. 654 (2003)
	ey v. National Federation of the Blind of North Carolina, 487 U.S. 781
`	(88)
	<u>ed v. Town of Gilbert</u> , 576 U.S. 155 (2015)
	nloendorff v. Society of N.Y. Hospital, 211 N.Y. 125 (1914)
	ited States v. Carolene Prod. Co., 304 U.S. 144 (1938)
	ited States v. United Foods, Inc., 533 U.S. 405 (2001)
Wo	<u>ooley v. Maynard</u> , 430 U.S. 705 (1977)
Sta	itutes
28	U.S.C. § 1257
	W 19.28.271I
	W 19.28.271(1)
	AC 296-46B-940(3)

1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Ken Smith is managing member of petitioner Hired Hands LLC (collectively "Hired Hands"), a two-member electrical contractor company.

2. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

A copy of the unpublished Court of Appeals decision is included at Appendix C. Division II affirmed the trial court's holdings.

3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- **a.** Whether requiring electricians to wear their electrical license is a violation of the First Amendment as compelled speech.
- **b.** Whether requiring electricians to wear their electrical license is a violation of the Fourteenth Amendment as an infringement of the fundamental right of bodily integrity, which includes privacy.
- **c.** Whether the operative language in WAC 296-46B-940(3) is void for unconstitutional vagueness.

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ken Smith is a master electrician, electrical administrator, and owner of Hired Hands LLC (hereinafter collectively referred to as "Hired Hands"). In 2013, the Department of Labor and Industries (the "Department") promulgated WAC 296-46B-940(3), which requires that electricians "wear" their electrical license on the chest area while they "work in the electrical construction trade." Appx. A. The statutory authority was RCW 19.28.271(1). Appx. B.

This case concerns both the enabling law and resultant regulation (collectively, the "worn license requirement"). The license is color-coded

to rank and expresses the wearer's name, city, state, zip code, license number, level of certification, the state seal, and "Department of Labor & Industries." CP 124-25.

Hired Hands challenged the worn license requirement in Thurston County Superior Court on Free Speech and Bodily Autonomy grounds. Additionally, Hired Hands argued the regulation was void for vagueness. The trial court upheld the law and regulation and the appeals court affirmed.

5. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

a. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the opinion conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), review is warranted "[i]f the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court." The appeals court rejected four-square binding precedent, instead opting to expand the 'informed consent' doctrine, creating a new rule that any licensed worker may be compelled to wear their license.

In Nat'l Inst. of Family & Life Advocates v. Becerra ("NIFLA"), the Supreme Court struck down an "unlicensed notice" that the state had required be posted at fake pre-natal care clinics run by anti-choice religious activists. 138 S. Ct. 2361, 2376 (2018). The unlicensed notice would have served to ensure pregnant women were not tricked by these fundamentalists posing as medical professionals. <u>id</u>. at 2368 ("Unlicensed clinics must notify women that California has not licensed the clinics to provide medical services.").

Like the worn electrical license, the posted "unlicensed notice" contained no objectively ideological content and was required at a private location. Rather than follow NIFLA, the appeals court seized upon the doctrine that NIFLA rejected – the "informed consent... requirement that a doctor give certain specific information about any medical procedure'... [that] regulated speech only 'as part of the practice of medicine, subject to reasonable licensing and regulation by the State." id. at 2373 (quoting Cruzan v. Director, Mo. Dept. of Health, 497 U.S. 261, 269 (1990); citing Schloendorff v. Society of N.Y. Hospital, 211 N.Y. 125, 129–130 (1914) (Cardozo, J.) (explaining that "a surgeon who performs an operation without his patient's consent commits an assault")). While this medical doctrine has also been expanded to mental health professionals, it has remained narrowly applicable to compelled speech describing a particular procedure -never has it been applied to compel wearing of a credential. Nor has it ever applied to a tradesperson.

The appeals court ignored obvious factual analogues in NIFLA. Washington requires a worn license notice. California sought to require a posted unlicensed notice. NIFLA, 138 S. Ct. at 2377. The only difference is that the former is more egregious for being affixed to the wearer's chest. Although a posted unlicensed notice "unduly burdens protected speech...[via] a government-scripted, speaker-based disclosure requirement..." the appeals court decided the worn electrical license is more like a surgeon explaining surgery to a patient. id. To sustain its rejection

of binding precedent, the appeals court engaged in reasoning that cannot be reconciled with any applicable doctrine.

First, the court seems to approve diminution of First Amendment rights as a function of the magnitude of bodies of "extensive licensing and regulation." Hired Hands, LLC v. Washington State Dep't of Labor & Indus., No. 53450-9-II, 2020 WL 5797899, at *2 (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 29, 2020). This frightening proposition has never been the law. Even the case that ended Lochnerism and introduced rational basis review of industrial regulations disclaimed such a notion in the most famous footnote in all of American jurisprudence.

There may be narrower scope for operation of the presumption of constitutionality when legislation appears on its face to be within a specific prohibition of the Constitution, such as those of the first ten Amendments...[requiring] more exacting judicial scrutiny.... [and] more searching judicial inquiry.

<u>United States v. Carolene Prod. Co.</u>, 304 U.S. 144, 153 n. 4 (1938).

Second, the appeals court adopted the Department's whopper of an intellectual contortion whereby electricians "performing electrical work...are...expressing that they..." are licensed and, therefore, the worn license requirement "merely verifies that the electrician is compliant with the law...." id. This legal fiction was lifted directly from the Department's briefing and can be found in no analogous precedent. Br. Resp't at 11-12.

This reasoning could arguably support application of the commercial speech exception to strict scrutiny, in which the state can constitutionally compel some extra information along with already extant

advertising. See e.g <u>NIFLA</u>, 138 S. Ct. at 2372 (2018) ("require professionals to disclose factual, noncontroversial information in their 'commercial speech.'"); Reply Br. at 1-3. Yet the worn license requirement has nothing to do with commercial speech and the appeals court stated it was applying informed consent surgery doctrine, not the commercial speech exception.

The proposition that, by working, Hired Hands is "expressing that they are licensed" also harkens to the Secondary Effects Doctrine as applied to nude dancers, especially given the appeals court's characterization of the overarching regulatory framework and citation to a Fifth Circuit "strip club" case. <u>Hired Hands</u>, WL 5797899 at *2, *4 (citing <u>N.W. Enters. Inc. v. City of Houston</u>, 352 F.3d 162, 197 (5th Cir. 2003). Clearly electricians have nothing to do with strippers or the law that follows their expressive conduct.

The appeals court further justified its rejection of the binding NIFLA case by amplifying the Supreme Court's concern with font size in the advertisement portion of the California law at issue there. Hired Hands, at *3 ("large font and in up to thirteen different languages"). However, the NIFLA Court focused mainly on the fact that the state was compelling

a government-scripted, speaker-based disclosure requirement that...requires...facilities to post California's precise notice, no matter what the facilities say on site or in their advertisements. And it covers a curiously narrow subset of speakers. ...Thus, a facility that advertises and provides pregnancy tests is covered by the unlicensed notice, but a facility across the street that advertises and provides nonprescription contraceptives is excluded—even though the latter is no less likely to make women think it is licensed. This Court's precedents are deeply skeptical of laws that "distinguis[h] among different speakers, allowing speech by some but not others."

NIFLA, 138 S. Ct. 2361, 2377–78 (2018) (quoiting <u>Citizens United v. Federal Election Comm'n</u>, 558 U.S. 310, 340 (2010)); see also Opening Br. Appellants at 13-26 (analogizing the foregoing paragraph to the worn license requirement).

Only as dicta, predicated on the hypothetical that "California had presented" an acceptable justification, did the Court mention the portion of the law that could drown out a hypothetical "billboard for an unlicensed facility that says 'Choose Life...." <u>id</u>. at 2378. Though such reasoning would seem to indicate adherence to the commercial speech portion of <u>NIFLA</u>, the appeals court then arbitrarily declared that the worn license requirement is distinguishable as "incidental" and not "speech as speech" regulation. <u>Hired Hands</u>, at *3.

This notion has been rejected by recent <u>NIFLA</u> progeny. See Appellants' Statement of Additional Authority, filed Sept. 2, 2020. In <u>IMDb.com Inc. v. Becerra</u>, the state prohibited publication of actors' age in online profiles created by IMDbPro, which "functions more or less as Hollywood's version of LinkedIn." 962 F.3d 1111, 1116 (9th Cir. 2020). The purpose was to prevent age discrimination in hiring. <u>id</u>.

"[A] law's practical effects are not merely 'incidental' when it imposes restrictions 'based on the content of speech and the identity of the speaker." id. (quoting Sorrell v. IMS Health, 564 U.S. 552, 567 (2011)). The IMBd.com court rejected the notion that the law was "of general applicability [and therefore] 'does not offend the First

Amendment...[by]...incidental effect...' on speech." <u>id</u>. at 1120 (quoting <u>Reed v. Town of Gilbert</u>, 576 U.S. 155 (2015)). The worn license requirement dictates the content of compelled speech identifying the wearer.

Free Speech analysis begins by "categorizing the type of speech at issue." Riley v. National Federation of the Blind of North Carolina, 487 U.S. 781, 787 (1988). The IMDb.com court did what the appeals court should have done -it applied the analytical framework appropriate to content based speech restrictions. 962 F.3d at 1119-1128. State restrictions on content are presumptively invalid. id. at 1120. Compelled speech is always content based because the state creates the content and forces the speaker to communicate it. Thus "[t]he right to speak and the right to refrain from speaking are complementary components of" Free Speech. Wooley v. Maynard, 430 U.S. 705, 714 (1977).

To knock a court off the presumption of invalidity, the proponent of the speech-compelling law must demonstrate it fits an exception, of which there are necessarily few. As a threshold analysis, the IMDD.com court searched the precedent for exceptions, then addressed and eliminated each possible "reduced protection" category. 962 F.3d at 1121-25. It then applied strict scrutiny.

Commercial speech is one exception that the Department proffered to support the worn license. Clearly a worn license requirement is not related to commercial speech, which is "defined as speech that does *no*

more than propose a commercial transaction' (emphasis added); ... [and] 'expression related *solely* to the economic interests of the speaker and its audience' (emphasis added)." Nike, Inc. v. Kasky, 539 U.S. 654, 678 (2003) (quoting <u>United States v. United Foods, Inc.</u>, 533 U.S. 405, 409 (2001) (citations omitted)).¹

By the time Hired Hands is performing electrical work, the commercial transaction has already been proposed and accepted. The appeals court should have rejected but did "not address [the Department's]...argument that the [worn license requirement]...requires factual, uncontroversial disclosure [along with] commercial speech." <u>Hired Hands</u>, WL 5797899 n. 2. The appeals court did not address any other possible exceptions to the presumption of invalidity, instead creating its own.

"We conclude that the [worn license] requirement is constitutional because it is a reasonable regulation of professional conduct that only incidentally impacts speech." <u>id</u>. at *3. This 'rule' can only apply (if ever) after a threshold determination that one of the foregoing exceptions to the presumption of invalidity has been activated by the type of restriction and underlying infringed or compelled speech. "Professional conduct" is not an exception.²

¹ Emphasis on "no more than" and "solely" was added by the Nike, Inc. Court.

² See also <u>NIFLA</u>, at 2371-72 (disapproving the 9th Cir. exception for "professional speech").

b. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) because the opinion involves significant questions of law under the United States Constitution, which issues are of substantial public importance.

This Republic has recently been subjected to unprecedented authoritarian and divisive stress, shaking public confidence in the rule of law. The mistakes of history are being, not only repeated, but renewed as viable policies. The courts are the last bastion and must not rubber stamp even the most banal of constitutional infringements. The time for vigilance is now.

This is a case of first impression grounded on the sacred and fundamental civil rights of bodily autonomy and free speech. This Court has accepted direct review under RAP 4.2(a)(4) of such issues as whether a police chief's personnel report is exempted from the Public Records Act,³ timeliness of a Condominium Act challenge,⁴ propriety of B&O tax calculations,⁵ and tribal authority over "non-Indian" motorists on tribal land.⁶ None of these cases touched fundamental civil rights. If review is not granted, then Hired Hands must petition the United States Supreme Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1257.

There are thousands of electricians in our state. There are over six million licenses -of many kinds- issued by the various agencies of our state.

The central issue, whether the state may force us to wear licenses, is of

³ Amren v. City of Kalama, 131 Wash. 2d 25, 28 (1997)

⁴ Bilanko v. Barclay Court Owners Ass'n, 185 Wash. 2d 443, 445 (2016)

⁵ Ford Motor Co. v. City of Seattle, 160 Wash. 2d 32, 37 (2007)

⁶ State v. Schmuck, 121 Wash. 2d 373, 379 (1993)

ubiquitous importance. Under the new rule created by the court of appeals, all licensed workers can be forced to wear their licenses -lawyers and judges included. A dystopian and paternalistic image likely to ignite further social upheaval and hostility.

The question, whether an act, repugnant to the constitution, can become the law of the land, is a question deeply interesting to the United States; but, happily, not of an intricacy proportioned to its interest. It seems only necessary to recognize certain principles, supposed to have been long and well established, to decide it.

Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. 137, 176 (1803).

6. CONCLUSION

Hired Hands respectfully requests this Court accept review and reverse the appeals court as to all three legal issues, and award attorney fees and costs as appropriate.