FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/18/2020 3:24 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 99131-6

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HIRED HANDS, LLC, and KENNETH SMITH,

Petitioners,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

WILLIAM F. HENRY Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 45148 Office Id. No. 24163 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 621-2225

# **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' straightforward analysis raises no significant constitutional question or issue of substantial public interest. Under United States Supreme Court precedent, regulations of professional conduct that incidentally involve speech are subject to rational basis review. The Court of Appeals' application of this principle to a routine regulation of the electrical trade does not conflict with any Supreme Court decision. Nor does the case involve unsettled questions of constitutional law meriting review. Because the certification rule does not violate the First Amendment or any other constitutional provision, this Court should deny review.

A. Under the First Amendment, Regulations of Professional Conduct Like the Certification Rule Are Subject to Rational Basis Review

The United States Supreme Court has long recognized the broad authority of states to regulate professional conduct despite its effects on

7

unjustified or unduly burdensome, for this reason as well, the rule does not violate the First Amendment. *See Zauderer v. Office of Disciplinary Counsel of Supreme Court of Ohio*, 471 U.S. 626, 651, 105 S. Ct. 2265, 85 L. Ed. 2d 652 (1985).

speech. "States may regulate professional conduct, even though that conduct incidentally involves speech." *Nat'l Inst. of Family & Life Advocates v. Becerra*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 138 S. Ct. 2361, 2372, 201 L. Ed. 2d. 835 (2018) ("*NIFLA*"). "[T]he State does not lose its power to regulate commercial activity deemed harmful to the public whenever speech is a component of that activity." *Ohralik v. Ohio State Bar Ass'n*, 436 U.S. 447, 455-56, 98 S. Ct. 1912, 56 L. Ed. 2d 444 (1978). Thus, the Court has upheld a law requiring physicians to communicate specific, statemandated information to their patients before performing an abortion. *Planned Parenthood of Se. Pa. v. Casey*, 505 U.S. 833, 884, 112 S. Ct. 2791, 120 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1992). The Court explained that this law regulated speech only "as part of the practice of medicine, subject to reasonable licensing and regulation by the State." *Id*.

As the Court of Appeals properly determined, the certification rule is also a regulation of professional conduct. Like the practice of medicine, the electrical trade is subject to reasonable licensing and regulation. *See Richardson v. Coker*, 188 Ga. 170, 174, 3 S.E.2d 636 (1939) (explaining that "the nature of electricity" justifies regulation of the electrical industry); *see also Nat'l Elec. Contractors Ass'n, Cascade Chapter v. Riveland*, 138 Wn.2d 9, 21-22, 978 P.2d 481 (1999). And like the disclosure requirement in *Casey*, the certification rule directly relates to

the practice of electrical work. 505 U.S. at 884. Only properly qualified individuals can legally perform electrical work in Washington. RCW 19.28.161(1). The certification rule allows consumers, contractors, and L&I to easily determine a worker's qualifications, helping ensure that only trained and licensed workers attempt dangerous installations.

As in *Casey*, the certification rule's effects on speech are incidental. While the regulation implicates speech by requiring certified electricians to disclose their credentials, it does not regulate speech for speech's sake. Instead, like many laws requiring proof of professional qualifications, the certification rule seeks to ensure that only trained, competent workers perform electrical work.<sup>4</sup> Because the rule's aim is to prevent unsafe installations by unqualified individuals, it is a regulation of professional conduct subject to rational basis review. *See Casey*, 505 U.S. at 884. The rule's effects on speech are incidental to its goal of ensuring quality work by licensed professionals.

In fact, the rule requires little expression beyond what is already required to perform electrical work. As the Court of Appeals explained, underlying Hired Hands' argument is the company's belief that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The certification legislation is not unique. Many laws require professionals to display their credentials while working. *See*, *e.g.*, Or. Rev. Stat. § 455.415 (electrical workers, plumbers, elevator technicians, solar heating installers); Haw. Rev. Stat. § 444-9.5(c) (electricians); Tenn. Code Ann. § 63-1-109 (healthcare practitioners); N.J. Stat. Ann. § 34:8A-8 (farm crew leaders).

certification rule forces electrical workers to express a message they would not otherwise make. *Hired Hands*, 2020 WL 5797899 at \*2. But Washington's electrical laws require that all persons working in the electrical construction trade have obtained a certificate of competency issued by L&I. RCW 19.28.161(1). Thus, simply by performing electrical work, these individuals express that they have met L&I's requirements to obtain a certificate—announcing to all observers that they are qualified to perform the work. The rule requiring that they display their certificates simply verifies statements the workers are already making (or catches them if they dissemble). As in *Casey*, the rule's effects on speech are incidental.

The Court of Appeals approved no "diminution of First Amendment rights" in upholding the certification rule. *See* Pet. 4.

Contrary to Hired Hands' arguments, the United States Supreme Court has long recognized regulations of professional conduct as a category of laws excepted from strict scrutiny under the First Amendment. *Contra* Pet. 3, 8; *see NIFLA*, 138 S. Ct. at 2373 ("[U]nder our precedents, States may regulate professional conduct, even though that conduct incidentally involves speech."). This exception is not limited to an "informed consent surgery doctrine," as Hired Hands suggests. Pet. 3, 5. Instead, informed consent laws are just one "example" of such regulations. *NIFLA*, 138 S.

Ct. at 2373. The Court of Appeals broke no new ground in determining the certification rule was a regulation of professional conduct subject to rational basis review.

Nor did the court reject "four-square binding precedent" in reaching its decision. Pet. 2. Hired Hands argues that the United States Supreme Court's decision in *NIFLA* controls, but as the Court of Appeals explained, the company's reliance on this case is misplaced. There, the Court invalidated a California law requiring anti-abortion medical clinics to provide a government-disseminated notice about the availability of "free or low-cost" abortions. *NIFLA*, 138 S. Ct. at 2369. In finding *Casey* inapplicable, the Court explained that the California law did not regulate professional conduct. *NIFLA*, 138 S. Ct. at 2373-74. It noted that the required disclosures were "not tied to" any particular medical procedure, and that the clinics must make the disclosures "regardless of whether a medical procedure is ever sought, offered, or performed." *Id.* at 2373. Under these circumstances, the Court found that the law regulated "speech as speech." *Id.* at 2374.

By contrast, the certification rule requires electrical workers to wear their certificates only when "work[ing] in the electrical construction trade"—tying the requirement to the practice of that trade. WAC 296-46B-940(3). Unlike the situation in *NIFLA*, the disclosure requirement does not

apply "regardless of whether [electrical work] is ever sought, offered, or performed." *See* 138 S. Ct. at 2373. Because the rule's requirements directly relate to the practice of electrical work, it is a regulation of professional conduct that only incidentally involves speech.

Hired Hands misreads *NIFLA* in arguing the Court of Appeals ignored "obvious factual analogues" to the certification rule. Pet. 3. The company notes that the NIFLA Court also struck down a second law requiring unlicensed pregnancy centers to provide notice that they were not licensed medical facilities. Pet. 2 (citing NIFLA, 138 S. Ct. at 2376). But this portion of the Court's opinion did not involve the exception for regulations of professional conduct—hardly surprising given that the unlicensed pregnancy centers maintained no licensed medical providers on staff and were not licensed by the state. NIFLA, 138 S. Ct. at 2369-70, 2376-78. Instead, the Court assumed without deciding that the notice requirement was a regulation of commercial speech and that a lesser level of scrutiny applied. NIFLA, 138 S. Ct. at 2376-78. That the Court ultimately found the notice requirement unduly burdensome says nothing about whether L&I's certification rule is a regulation of professional conduct.

Hired Hands' remaining arguments about the proper level of scrutiny are also inapposite. It argues the Court of Appeals should have

followed the Ninth Circuit's decision in *IMDb.com v. Becerra*, but that case involved a restriction on noncommercial speech, not a regulation of professional conduct. Pet. 6-7 (citing IMDb.com Inc. v. Becerra, 962 F.3d 1111 (9th Cir. 2020)). Hired Hands asserts that all laws compelling speech require strict scrutiny. Pet. 7-8 (citing Riley v. Nat'l Fed'n of the Blind of N. Carolina, Inc., 487 U.S. 781, 108 S. Ct. 2667, 101 L. Ed. 2d 669 (1988)). But Riley also did not involve a regulation of professional conduct and, in any case, the Court applied strict scrutiny because the law's disclosure requirements were "inextricably intertwined" with solicitation of charitable contributions—"fully protected speech" under the First Amendment. 487 U.S. at 796. Hired Hands identifies no fully protected speech warranting strict scrutiny here. Nor does the company reconcile its argument with the holding of *Casey*, where the Court upheld a compelled disclosure as a reasonable regulation of the medical profession. As the Court of Appeals correctly determined, rational basis review applies.

B. There Is No Issue of Substantial Public Interest When the Certification Rule's Requirements Rationally Relate to Washington's Legitimate Interest in Ensuring Safe Electrical Work

Washington's regulation of the electrical trade implicates no issue of substantial public importance when the certification rule plainly relates

to a legitimate state interest. States have "broad power to establish standards for licensing practitioners and regulating the practice of professions." *Goldfarb v. Va. State Bar*, 421 U.S. 773, 792, 95 S. Ct. 2004, 44 L. Ed. 2d 572 (1975). Under rational basis review, a law is constitutional if it rationally relates to a legitimate state interest. *Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals*, 158 Wn.2d 208, 222, 143 P.3d 571 (2006). Electrical work is "inherently dangerous," implicating the "public interest in health and safety." *Nat'l Elec. Contractors*, 138 Wn.2d at 21-22. Protecting the health and welfare of workers and the public is a legitimate state interest. *See Am. Legion Post #149 v. Dep't of Health*, 164 Wn.2d 570, 604, 192 P.3d 306 (2008).

The certification rule rationally relates to these important state concerns. The rule works hand in hand with other electrical laws to protect the public, providing "assurances that individuals performing ... electrical work are trained and competent." *Nat'l Elec. Contractors*, 138 Wn.2d at 21. As L&I explained during rulemaking, by requiring all certified electrical workers to wear and display their certificates, it becomes more likely that L&I, consumers, and general contractors will discover uncertified workers performing electrical work. AR 393. This in turn discourages those workers—and the dishonest contractors who employ them—from attempting dangerous electrical installations, limiting the

potential for property damage, injury, and death. *See* AR 393. In this way, the certification rule rationally advances the public interest in health and safety. Because the certification rule easily passes constitutional muster, this Court should deny review.

## V. CONCLUSION

Hired Hands raises no issue warranting review. As a regulation of professional conduct that only incidentally involves speech, L&I's certification rule does not violate the First Amendment. This Court should deny review.

> ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

WILLIAM F. HENRY Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 45148

Office Id. No. 24163 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000

Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 621-2225

## WASHINGTON ST. ATTORNEY GENERAL - LABOR & INDUSTRIES DIVISION - SEATTLE

# December 18, 2020 - 3:24 PM

### **Transmittal Information**

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

**Appellate Court Case Number:** 99131-6

**Appellate Court Case Title:** Hired Hands, LLC, et al. v. WA State Department of Labor and Industries

**Superior Court Case Number:** 16-2-01850-2

### The following documents have been uploaded:

991316\_Answer\_Reply\_20201218152311SC302652\_7554.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was 201218\_AnswertoPFR.pdf

• 991316\_Cert\_of\_Service\_20201218152311SC302652\_3300.pdf

This File Contains: